
  

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

FOR THE DISTRICT OF PUERTO RICO  

  

  

  

MILAGROS QUIÑONES-GONZALEZ,  

Individually on her own behalf and 
others similarly situated,  

  

  
v.  

  

KRAFT FOODS GROUP, INC.  

  

Defendants.   

   

   

CIVIL NO.   

  

  

  

[CLASS ACTION FAIRNESS ACT]            

  

  

  

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED            

  

  

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT  
  

Plaintiff Milagros Quiñones-Gonzalez, (hereinafter, “Plaintiff”), a Puerto Rico resident, pursuant 

to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, brings this class action, on behalf of herself 

and of all other similarly situated persons, against Kraft Foods Group, Inc., for violations of the 

Puerto Rico Consumer Legal Remedies Act, false advertising, violation of the Unfair Competition  

Law, and fraud, deceit and/or misrepresentation. Specifically,  Defendants  label  the  Kraft  

Natural  Cheese  -  Shredded  Cheese  -Cheddar Fat Free as a “natural cheese” and market it as 

such, despite that the .Product contains “artificial color,”. The following allegations are based 

upon information and relief, including the investigation of Plaintiff’s counsel, and the facts that 

are a matter of public record, as follows:  

NATURE OF THE ACTION  

1.  Plaintiff brings this circuit wise action individually and on behalf of a proposed class  
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("Class"), as more fully defined below, of similarly situated consumers, in the United States, 

(excluding California), Puerto Rico, and all U.S. Territories, seeking to redress the pervasive 

pattern of fraudulent, deceptive, false and otherwise improper advertising, sales and 

marketing practices Defendant deceptively informed and led its customers to believe that 

they were purchasing, for a premium price, products containing all natural cheese, while 

failing to adequately disclose that such products contain artificial color, synthetic ingredients 

and/or additives. Defendant obtained substantial profits from these unlawful and deceptive 

sales.  

JURISDICTION, PARTIES AND VENUE  

  

2. Original jurisdiction of this Court exists by virtue of 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2) and the Class 

Action Fairness Act ("CAFA"). See 28 U.S.C. § 1711, et. seq. The Plaintiff and certain of 

the Defendants in this action are citizens of different U.S. jurisdictions and territories and 

the amount in controversy in this action exceeds five million dollars ($5,000,000.00), 

exclusive of interest and costs. Jurisdiction is also appropriate as Defendant Kraft Foods 

Group, Inc. otherwise intentionally avails itself of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico 

market through its marketing and sales of the products in the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico 

and/or by having such other contacts with Puerto Rico so as to render the exercise of 

jurisdiction over it by the District of Puerto Rico court consistent with traditional notions of 

fair play and substantial justice.  

3. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a), (b), and (c) because a substantial 

part of the events giving rise to these claims occurred in the District of Puerto Rico; 

Defendants and/or their agents were doing business in Puerto Rico; and/or Defendants are 

otherwise subject to personal jurisdiction in this judicial district.  
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PLAINTIFFS  

4. For purposes of clarity, the Plaintiff is asserting claims on behalf of all consumers of Kraft  

Foods Groups products in the United States, (excluding California),Commonwealth of 

Puerto Rico and all other U.S. territories, who do not appear herein as named Plaintiffs.   

5. The named plaintiff Milagros Quinones Gonzalez is a resident of the Commonwealth of 

Puerto Rico. Plaintiff purchased the Product in Puerto Rico within the last four (4) years of the 

filing of this Complaint.  Specifically, Plaintiff purchased Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural 

cheese” at Ralph Food Warehouse located in Caguas, Puerto Rico several times since the year 

2000. When purchasing the Product, the plaintiff relied upon the claim “natural cheese” 

prominently and conspicuously displayed “front and center” on each and every product 

package, as well as on all other advertising and promotional material, such as the Kraft website 

and television commercials.  Plaintiff viewed and relied upon the “natural cheese” claim both at, 

and prior to, the point of sale. Had the plaintiff known the Product contains artificial or 

synthetic ingredients, such as “artificial color”, she would not have purchased the Product.   
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DEFENDANTS  

6. Defendant Kraft Foods Group, (“Kraft Foods”) is a corporation organized and existing under 

the laws of the State of Delaware, with principal place of business located at Three Lakes 

Drive, Northfield, Illinois 60093. Kraft offers the Product for sale at stores and retailers 

as well as through the internet, throughout the nation, including the Commonwealth of 

Puerto Rico. Kraft, directly and through its agents, has substantial contacts with, and 

receives substantial benefits and income from and through its sales in the Commonwealth 

of Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and U.S. territories.      
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GENERAL ALLEGATIONS  

7. As the growing concern over health and food safety has become more prevalent among 

the consuming public, so, too, have the incidences of false and misleading claims about 

such products.  It is becoming more commonly known that certain claims on food 

packaging implies that a food is healthier, safer or produced to higher ethical standards.  

The term “natural” and, in this case, “natural cheese,” is one such claim.  

8. In  an  effort  to capitalize  on consumers’  increasing  desire (and willingness  to  pay  

more)  for  healthier,  less  processed  foods,  manufacturers, including Kraft, routinely 

make false and/or misleading claims about the benefits and characteristics of a product 

and advertise their products as though they maintain characteristics they do not have and 

that the manufacturer cannot validate with competent and reliable scientific evidence so 

as to make receiving the intended benefit illusory and, in some cases, unsafe.   

9. Most notably in their marketing of the Product, Defendant uses the, label “Natural  

Cheese” [emphasis added], which appears front and center on the packaging, which  

labeling and packaging, in turn, pervades Kraft’s entire advertising campaign.  The 

“Natural Cheese” label refers to a separate and distinct category of cheese products sold 

by Kraft, which includes the Product at issue in this Complaint. Kraft’s deliberate  labeling  

choice  for  the  Product  (i.e.,  “Natural Cheese”) is evidenced by the fact that Kraft 

differentiates the Product from other non-“natural” labeled cheddar cheese products, 

which include the following labeled categories, to name a few:  

a. “Kraft”,  which  comes  in  various  cheese products,  including  cheddar  e.g., 
“Cheddar” Cheese,” “Triple Cheddar”, “Sharp Cheddar”;  

b. “Kraft Singles”, which comes in various cheese products, including a “Fat Free Sharp 
Cheddar”;  

c. “Kraft Fresh Take”, which comes in various cheese products, including cheddar (e.g., 
Spicy Chipotle Cheddar, Cheddar Jack).  
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10. In addition to the packaging and labeling of the Product, Defendants’ official website 

(www.kraftfoodsgroup.com), through commercial and print media reiterate those very 

same claims, and state, among other things: “For more than 110 years, Kraft has been 

selling high-quality natural cheeses in a wide variety of flavors and forms.” [emphasis 

added.]  

11. When purchasing the Product, Plaintiffs relied upon the label “natural cheese” as well as 

the overall marketing of the Product as “natural cheese”, and were led to believe, based 

on the foregoing, that the Product was natural in that it was not artificial or made of 

synthetic ingredients, including “artificial color”.  Had the plaintiff known that the product 

contained artificial color and other artificial ingredients, she would not have purchased the 

product.   

12. Defendants’ labeling and claims about the Product as “natural cheese” lead people to 

believe that the Product is indeed “natural.”  This means therefore, that  the  public  is  led  

to  believe  the  Product,  at  a  minimum,  has  no  artificial ingredients or characteristics.  

The public is further led to believe the Product will be healthier, safer and/or produced to 

a higher standard.  

13. The Product was not labeled and advertised as “mostly natural” or “almost all natural” or 

“95% natural.” The Product was advertised and promoted and differentiated from its other 

non-“natural” products as “natural cheese.” It is not natural cheese.  In point of fact, the 

Product contains, at a minimum, artificial color.  

14. Accordingly, Kraft’s claims are false, deceptive, and misleading, as the Product contains 

artificial color (among other synthetic ingredients) – a clearly un- natural ingredient.  
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15. The Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) explicitly objects to use of the term “natural” 

if the food contains added color, artificial flavors, and/or synthetic substances, such as the 

Product.  

16. The FDA considers use of the term “natural” on a food label to be truthful and non-

misleading only when “nothing artificial or synthetic…has been included in, or has been 

added to, a food or ingredient that would not normally be expected to be in the food.” See 

58 FR 2302, 2407, January 6, 1993.  

17. In 1993, the FDA stated the following at 58 Fed. Reg. 2302, 2407 (1993), [emphases 

added]: “After reviewing and considering the comments, the agency continues to believe  

that  if  the  term  “natural”  is  adequately  defined,  the  ambiguity surrounding use of 

this term that results in misleading  claims  could be abated. However, as the comments 

reflect, there are many facets of this issue that the agency will have to carefully consider 

if it undertakes a rulemaking to define the term “natural.”   

Because of resource limitations and other agency priorities, FDA is not 

undertaking rulemaking to establish a definition for “natural” at this time. 

The agency will maintain its current policy (as discussed in the general 

principles proposal (56 FR 60421 at 60466)) not to restrict the use of the 

term “natural” except for added color, synthetic substances, and flavors 

as provided in § 101.22.  

  

Additionally, the agency will maintain its policy (Ref. 32) regarding the 

use of “natural,” as meaning that nothing artificial or synthetic 

(including all color additives regardless of source) has been included 

in, or has been added to, a food that would not normally be expected 

to be in the food. Further, at this time the agency will continue to 

distinguish between natural and artificial flavors as outlined in § 101.22.  

  

18. Contrary to the implications of the term “natural” on food products, artificial food coloring 

is not considered healthy or safe. Among the health concerns regarding artificial food 
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coloring are that it could cause everything from hyperactivity in children, to allergic 

reactions, to asthma complications, or cancer.  

19. The Center for Science in the Public Interest links food colorings to hyperactivity and 

behavior problems in children, and has been urging the FDA to ban certain dyes that they 

believe cause these issues.  

20. During the course of their false, misleading, and deceptive advertising campaign, 

Defendants have sold hundreds of thousands of units or more of the Product based upon 

Defendants’ false promises. Plaintiffs and the Class have suffered  injury  in  fact  and  

have  lost  money  as  a  result  of  Defendants’  false representations, all of which entitled 

the plaintiff and the class to recover damages under Articles I and III of the Puerto Rico 

Civil Code.   

21. Had Defendant not misrepresented (by omission and commission) the true nature of its 

Products, Plaintiff would not have purchased Defendant’s product or, at a very minimum, 

he would have paid much less for the product.  

Plaintiff brings this action against Defendant on behalf of herself and all others similarly 

situated, as a class action pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  

Plaintiff seeks to represent a class defined as follows:  

  

All persons who, between August 17, 2010 and the present, purchased, 

in the United States, (excluding California), the Commonwealth of 

Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and U.S. Territories, the following 

product: Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural cheese.:  

   

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS  

22. Plaintiff brings this suit as a class action on behalf of himself and on behalf of other 

similarly situated persons pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P.23(a), 23(b)(2), and/or 23(b)(3). 

Subject to additional information obtained through further investigation and/or 
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discovery, the foregoing definition of the Classes may be expanded or narrowed.  The 

proposed Classes are defined as follows:  

23. Class: All persons who purchased Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural cheese” product in 

the District of Puerto Rico, and all U.S. territories, within the applicable statutory 

limitations period, including the period following the filing date of this action.   

24. Excluded from the Classes are: (1) Defendants, Defendants' subsidiaries, affiliates, 

officers, directors, assigns and successors, and any entity which Defendants have a 

controlling interest; (2) the Judge to whom this case is assigned and any member of the 

judge's immediate family; (3) anyone who purchased Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural 

cheese” products for the purpose of resale; and (4) anyone asserting claims for personal 

injury. Plaintiff reserves the right to modify the Class and Subclass definitions as further 

investigation and/or discovery so warrant.  

25. This action has been brought and may properly be maintained as a class action pursuant 

to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 and case law thereunder.  

26. Numerosity:  The members of the Classes are so numerous that joinder of all members 

is impracticable.  Plaintiff reasonably believes that the Classes are comprised of tens of 

thousands of consumers throughout Puerto Rico and the United States territories.  

27. Commonality: Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Classes. 

These common questions predominate over any questions affecting only individual Class 

members. These common legal and factual questions include, but are not limited to, the 

following:  

• whether  Defendants'   claims  regarding  Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural cheese” 

product is deceptive or misleading;  

  

• whether Defendants engaged in false or misleading advertising;  
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• whether Defendants' conduct as alleged herein violates the Puerto Rico Deceptive 

Acts and Practices Act and/or other U.S. territories unfair trade practices acts;  

  

• whether Defendants' conduct as alleged herein constitutes a breach of warranty;  

  

• whether Defendants' conduct as alleged herein constitutes unjust enrichment;  

  

• whether Plaintiff and Class members  have sustained monetary  loss and the proper 

measure of that loss; and  

  

• whether Plaintiff and Class members are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief.  

  

These and other questions of law or fact which are common to the members of the Class 

and predominate over any questions affecting only individual members of the Class.  

28. Typicality: Plaintiff s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class, as all 

Class members are similarly affected by Defendants' wrongful conduct. Plaintiff, like 

other members of the Classes, purchased Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural cheese” after 

exposure to the same material misrepresentations and/or omissions appearing on the 

product packaging and on or in Defendants' marketing and advertising, and received a 

product that was not as represented. Plaintiff is advancing the same claims and legal 

theories on behalf of himself and all absent members of the Class.  

29. Adequacy: Plaintiff s claims are made in a representative capacity on behalf of the other 

members of the Class. Plaintiff has no interests antagonistic to the interests of the other 

members of the proposed Class and is subject to no unique defenses.  

30. Plaintiff is similarly situated in interest to all members of the proposed Class and is 

committed to the vigorous prosecution of this action and has retained competent counsel. 

Accordingly, Plaintiff is an adequate representative of the proposed Class and will fairly 

and adequately protect the interests of the Class.  
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31. This suit may be maintained as a class action under Fed. R .Civ. P. 23(b) (2) because  

Defendant has acted, and/or refused to act, on grounds generally applicable to the 

Classes, thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief. Specifically, injunctive relief 

is necessary and appropriate to require Defendant to: (i) discontinue advertising, 

marketing, packaging and otherwise representing Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural 

cheese” products as superior; (ii) undertake an immediate public information campaign 

to inform members of the  proposed Class as to their prior practices; and (iii) to correct 

any erroneous impression consumers may have derived concerning the nature, 

characteristics, or qualities of the Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural cheese” products 

including without limitation, the placement of corrective advertising  and  providing 

written notice to the public.  

32. In addition, this suit may be maintained as a class action under Fed. R. Civ .P. 23 (b)(3) 

because a class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable. The injury 

suffered by each individual class member is relatively small in comparison to the burden  

and expense  of  individual  prosecution  of  the  complex  and  extensive  litigation  

necessitated  by Defendant's conduct. It would be virtually impossible for members of 

the Class individually to redress effectively the wrongs done to them. Even if the 

members of the Class could afford such litigation, the court system could not. 

individualize litigation inasmuch as it presents a potential for inconsistent or 

contradictory judgments. Individualized litigation increases the delay and expense to all 

parties, and to the court system, presented by the complex legal and factual issues of the 

case. By contrast, the class action device presents no management difficulties, and 
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provides the benefits of single adjudication, economy of scale, and comprehensive 

supervision by a single court.  

COUNT I (Breach of Express Warranty)  

  

Deceptive and Unfair Marketing   

   

33. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 

1-32 above as if fully set forth herein.  

34. Plaintiff, and each member of the Class, formed a contract with Defendant at the time they 

purchased Defendant's Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural cheese”. The terms of that 

contract include the promises and affirmations of fact made by Defendant on the labels of 

Defendant's Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural cheese” Kraft, its Kraft’s Cheddar fat free 

“natural cheese” product and through the advertising and marketing campaign, as alleged 

above. Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural cheese” product’s labeling and advertising 

constitute express warranties, are part of the basis of the bargain, and are part of a 

standardized contract between Plaintiff and the members of the Class, on the one hand, 

and Defendant, on the other.  

35. Alternatively, privity was established between Defendant and Plaintiff and Class Members 

because Defendant, and/or its agents, were substantially, if not completely responsible for 

directly promoting and marketing Defendant's Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural cheese” 

product to Plaintiff and Class Members and Plaintiff and Class Members were directly 

promoted to and marketed to by Defendant prior to purchasing Kraft’s Cheddar fat free 

“natural cheese” product resulting in the purchase of Defendant's product by Plaintiff and 

Class Members. By virtue of this direct promotion and marketing to Plaintiff and Class 
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Members, Defendant directly made an express warranty of Kraft’s Cheddar fat free 

“natural cheese” product attributes and benefits to Plaintiff and Class Members.  

36. All conditions precedent to Defendant's liability under the warranty have been performed 

by Plaintiff and the Class.  

37. Defendant breached the terms of the express warranty by not providing a product 

that provided the benefits promised. The statements made by Defendant that warranted 

Defendant's claims of Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural cheese” products having a 

superior nature, attributes and benefits were not "puffery" or mere opinion -they were 

statements and affirmations of specific benefits and superior performance over 

alternative and lower priced sources of  Cheddar fat free “natural cheese” constitute 

violations of the provisions of  Section 5 of the Trade Commission Act and Rules 5 and 

7 of the Regulations Against Deceitful and Misleading Advertising of Puerto Rico 

Department of Consumer Affairs, the Virgin Islands Consumer Fraud and Business 

Practices Act, 12A V.I.C. § 301 et seq.., and other territorial Consumer Fraud Protection 

Acts.      

38. Plaintiffs and Class Members relied on these representations by Defendant in purchasing 

Defendant’s Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural cheese” instead of less expensive, but 

equally or more effective, alternative sources for cheese.   

39. As a result of Defendant's breach of warranty, Plaintiff and the Class have been damaged 

in the amount of the purchase price of Defendant's Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural 

cheese” , and have suffered other damages to be determined by proof at trial. 
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COUNT II (Unjust Enrichment)  

  

  

40. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 

1-39 above as if fully set forth herein.    

41. Plaintiff and Class members conferred a tangible economic benefit upon Defendant by 

purchasing Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural cheese “product. Plaintiff and Class 

members would have expected remuneration from Defendant at the time this benefit was 

conferred had they known that Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural cheese” was artificial or 

imitation, was not “natural cheese” and that it contained artificial color.     

42. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant's misconduct as set forth above, Defendant 

has been unjustly enriched at the expense of Plaintiff and Class members.  

43. It would be inequitable for Defendant to retain the profits, benefits and other 

compensation obtained by its wrongful conduct in marketing and selling of Kraft’s 

Cheddar fat free “natural cheese” product.  

44. Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and Class members, seeks restitution from Defendant, and 

an order of this Court disgorging all profits, benefits and other compensation obtained 

by Defendant from the wrongful conduct.  

45. The Defendant's acts and omissions as well as their failure to use reasonable care in this 

matter as alleged in this complaint, including but not limited to, the knowing 

misrepresentation or failure to disclose the source, affiliation, origin, characteristics, 

ingredients, standards and quality of Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural cheese” product 

constitute violations of the provisions of  Section 5 of the Trade Commission Act and 

Rules 5 and 7 of the Regulations Against Deceitful and Misleading Advertising of the 

Puerto Rico Department of Consumer Affairs, the Virgin Islands Consumer Fraud  and  
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Business Practices Act, 12A V.I.C. § 301 et seq.., and other territorial Consumer Fraud 

Protection Acts.      

46. The Defendant's unconscionable, unfair, and deceptive acts and practices set forth in this 

Complaint are likely and reasonably foreseeable to mislead Plaintiff and members of the 

Class acting reasonably in their reliance on Defendant's acts and practices, and to their 

detriment.  

47. The Defendant engaged in the unconscionable, unfair, and deceptive acts or practices set 

forth in this Complaint in the conduct of trade or commerce, in violation of the provisions 

of Section 5 of the Trade Commission Act and Rules 5 and 7 of the Regulations against 

Deceitful and Misleading Advertising of the Puerto Rico Department of Consumer 

Affairs.   

48. The Defendant's misrepresentations or omissions as set forth in this Complaint are 

material in that they relate to matters which are important to consumers or are likely to 

affect the  purchasing  decisions  or  conduct  of  consumers,  including  Plaintiff  and  

Class Members regarding Defendant's products.  

49. The Defendant's business practice, in its advertising, marketing, packaging, labeling and 

sales of its Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural cheese” as “natural”  justifying substantially  

higher prices over alternative sources of cheese, is an unconscionable, unfair, and 

deceptive act or practice, in violation of the applicable Consumer Protection Acts, in that 

it (1) offends established public policy, (2) is immoral, unethical, oppressive, or 

unscrupulous, and/or (3) is substantially injurious and caused actual damages to 

consumers, including Plaintiff and Class Members who purchased Kraft’s Cheddar fat 

free “natural cheese” product because of Defendant's representations and conduct.  
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50. Plaintiff and Class Members have suffered actual damages as a result of Defendant's 

violation of in violation of the provisions of Section 5 of the Trade Commission Act and 

Rules 5 and 7 of the Regulations against Deceitful and Misleading Advertising of the 

Puerto Rico Department of Consumer Affairs and are entitled to relief.    

51. As a direct and proximate cause of Defendant's violations of various applicable 

Consumer Protection Acts, Plaintiff and Class Members have incurred harm and 

damages as described herein, and are entitled to recover for those damages, including 

but not limited to, actual damages, costs, attorneys' fees, and injunctive relief, pursuant 

to the Class Action Fairness Act and the various other Consumer Protection Acts.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF  

52. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and all members of the Classes defined herein, 

by the undersigned attorney, prays for judgment as follows:  

• Certification of the Class under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23 and 

appointment of Plaintiff as representative of the Class and her legal counsel as 

Class legal counsel;   

• A temporary, preliminary and/or permanent order for injunctive relief requiring  

Defendants to: (i) discontinue advertising, marketing, packaging and otherwise 

representing Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural cheese”; (ii) undertake an 

immediate public information campaign to inform members of the proposed 

Class as to the prior practices; and (iii) to correct any erroneous impression 

consumers may have derived concerning the nature, characteristics, or qualities 

of Kraft’s Cheddar fat free “natural cheese“ product, including without 

limitation, the placement of corrective advertising and providing written notice 

to the public;  
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• An order requiring imposition of a constructive trust and/or disgorgement of 

Defendant's ill-gotten gains and to pay restitution to Plaintiff and all members of 

the Class and to restore to the Plaintiff and members of the Class all funds 

acquired by means of any act or practice declared by this Court to be an unlawful, 

fraudulent or unfair business act or practice, a violation of laws, statutes or 

regulations, or constituting unfair competition or false advertising;  

• Distribution of any moneys recovered on behalf of members of the Class via 

fluid recovery or cy press recovery where necessary and as applicable, to prevent 

Defendant from retaining the benefits of the wrongful conduct;  

• Compensatory and other damages for economic and non-economic damages 

identified herein, including all damages allowed by governing statutes; as well 

as Statutory pre-judgment and post-judgement interest.  

• Reasonable attorneys fees.  

  

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, in San Juan, Puerto Rico, on this the 4th day of July, 2015. 

 

/s/  José R. Franco-Rivera 
JOSE R. FRANCO-RIVERA, Esq. 

USDC #129014 

P.O. Box 16834, San Juan, Puerto Rico 00907-6834 

Tel. 787/407-7041; E mail address: jrfrancolaw@gmail.com 

  

Case 3:15-cv-01892   Document 1   Filed 07/04/15   Page 17 of 17

mailto:jrfrancolaw@gmail.com


44 (Rev. 12/17)
Case 3:15-cv-018EnFitceNtElft1shitif/04/15 Page 1 of 3

Thc JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as

provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk ofCourt for the

purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (S1T:E INSMICTIONS ON NEXTPAGE OF '1111S IVRM.)

(a) PLAINTIFFS I DEFENDANT

MILAGROS QUESONESCONZALEZ, and others similarly KRAFT FOODS GROUP, INC
situated

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff

County of Residence of First Listed Defendant

PUERTO RICO (IN US PTAINT/EP CASES ONLY')
NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMN-A:MN CASES, USE TIFF LOCATION OE

(EXCEPT IN 1. PLAINTIFF CASES) THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED

WI Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, aird Telephone Number)
JOSE R. FRANCO RIVERA Attorneys (IfKnown)
P.O. BOX 16834, SAN JUAN, P.R. 00907-6834 UNKNOWN

787-407-7041

IL BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Place an "K" in One Pas Only) III. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (Place an "X' in One Boxfin- Plaintt
(For Diversity Cases Only) and One Box for Defendant)

1 U.S. Government 'XXX 3 Federal Question PTF DEE PTE

DEF
Plainbtf (US. Government NM a Part1) Citizen ofThis State 1 'I Incorporated or Principal Place '4 4 of Business In This State

'2 U.S. Government '4 Diversity Citizen of Another State 2 2 Incorporated and Principal Place '5 '5

Defendant (Indicate Citizenship of Parties in,im III) ofBusiness In Another State

Citizen or Subject of a 3 3 Foreign Nation 6 '6

Foreign Country
IV. NATURE OF SUIT (Place an "A" in One Box Only)

1 CONTRACT TORTS FORFEITURE/PENALTY BANKRUPTCY OTHER STATUTES
I. it Insurance PERSONAL INJURY PERSONAL INJURY '625 Drug Related Seizure '422 Appeal 28 USC 158 '375 False Claims Act

120 Marine '310 Airplane 365 Personal Injury ofProperty 21 USC 881 '423 Withdrawal '400 State Reapportionment
'130 Miller Act '31$ Airplane Product Product Liability 690 Other 28 USC 157 410 Antitrust

140 Negotiable Instrument Liability '367 Health Care/ 4311 Banks and Banking
150 Recovery of Overpayment 320 Assault, Libel & Pharmaceutical Slander Personal 450 Commerce

& Enforcement ofJudgment Inj ury PROPERTY RIGHTS '460 Deportation
'820 Copyrights

151 Medicare Act '330 Federal Employers' XXX Product Liability '830 Patera 470 Racketeer Influenced and

152 Recovery of Defaulted Liability '368 Asbestos Personal '840 Trademark Corrupt Organizations

Student Loans '340 Marine Injury Product '480 Consumer Credit

(Excludes Veterans) '345 Marine Product Liability '490 Cable/Sat TV
153 Recovery of Overpayment Liability PERSONAL PROPERTY IABOR. SOCIAL SECURITY 850 Securities/Commodities/

710 Fair Labor Standards '861 FHA (139511)
of Veteran's Benefits '350 Motor Vehicle '370 Other Fraud Act 862 Black Lung (923) Exchange

'160 Stockholders' Suits '1” Motor Vehicle '371 Truth in Leading '720 Labor/Management '863 DIWC/DLWW (405(g)) 890 Other Statutory Actions
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791 Employee Retirement 899 Administrative Procedure
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Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisrliclional statutes unless diversity):
28 USC I332(d)(2) and 1711 et. Seq.

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION
Brief description of cause: Class Action suit for violations including false advertising, fraud, deceit andfor misrepresentation.

VII. REQUESTED IN CHECK IF THIS IS A XXCLASS ACTION I EMAND CHECK YES only ifdemanded in complaint:
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS COIVIPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET FORM is 44

Authority For Civil Cover Sheet

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and service of pleading or other papers as

required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is

required for the usc of the Clerk of Court for the purpose or initiating the civil docket sheet. Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of
Court for each civil complaint tiled. The attorney filing a case should complete the form as follows:

L(a) Plaintiffs-Defendants. Enter names (last, first, middle initial) ofplaintiff and defendant If the plaintiff or defendant is a government agency, use

only the full name or standard abbreviations. If the plaintiff or defendant is an official within a government agency, identify first the agency and then
thc official, giving both name and title.

(b) County of Residence. For each civil case filed, except U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county where the first listed plaintiff resides at the
time of filing. In U.S. plaintiff eases, enter the name of the county in which the first listed defendant resides at the time of filing. (NOTE: In land
condenmation cases, the county of residence of the "defendant" is the location of the tract of land involved.)

(c) Attorneys. Enter the firm name, address, telephone number, and attorney of record. If there are several attorneys, list them on an attachment, noting
in this section "(see attachment)", 11. Jurisdiction. The basis ofjurisdicfion is set forth under Rule 8(a), F.R.Cv.P., which requires that

jurisdictions be shown in pleadings. Place an "X" in one of the boxes. If there is more than one basis ofjurisdiction, precedence is given in the order

shown below.

-United States plaintiff. (I) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348. Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here.

United States defendant. (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an "X" in this box.
Federal question. (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment
to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States. In cases where the U.S. is a party, the U.S. plaintiff or defendant code takes
precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be marked.

Diversity of citizenship. (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states. When Box 4 is checked, the

citizenship of the different parties must be checked. (See Section III below; NOTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity
cases.)

Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties. This section of the JS 44 is to be completed ifdiversity of citizenship was indicated above. Mark

this section for each principal party. IV. Nature of Suit. Place an "X" in the appropriate box. If the nature of suit cannot be determined; be sure the

cause of action, in Section VI below, is sufficient to enable the deputy clerk or the statistical clerk(s) in the Administrative Office to determine the nature of

suit. If the cause fits more than one nature of suit, select the most definitive. V. Origin. Place an "X" in one of the six boxes.

Original Proceedings. (I) Cases which originate in the United States district courts.

Removed from State Court. (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441.
When the petition for removal is granted, check this box.
Remanded from Appellate Court. (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action. Use the date of remand as the filing
date.
Reinstated or Reopened. (4) Cheek this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court. Use the reopening date as the filing date.
Transferred from Another District. (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or

multidistrict litigation transfers.
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When this box is checked, do not check (5) above.

VI. Cause of Action. Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause. Do not cite jurisdictional
statutes unless diversity. Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service

VII. Requested in Complaint. Class Action. Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P. Demand. In this space
enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction.
Jury Demand. Cheek the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.

VIII Related Cases. This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases, ifany. If there are related pending cases, insert the docket
numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases.

Date and Attorney Signature. Date and sign the civil cover sheet.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF PUERTO RICO

CATEGORY SHEET

You must accompany your complaint with this Category Sheet, and the Civil Cover Sheet (JS-44).

Attorney Name (Last, First, MI): re-6r", c. R.
USDC-PR Bar Number: k Lc9 0 14

Email Address:,j efv- al %I c. ta tAr ^NG *i I C 04,1

1. Title (caption) of the Case (provide only the names of the first party on each side):

Plaintiff: I IA; (AO v-12"5- 6q1.4.1*1•0*Ae s— •-•-(:)Y1

Defendant: I(RhiT t4fTh- CrctOtit?, c.

2. indicate the category to which this case belongs:

Rri.)rdinary Civil Case

Social Security

Banking

Inj unction

3. Indicate the title and number o frelated cases (if any).

IQ o ne-

4. Has a prior action between the same parties and based on the same claim ever been filed before this Court?

I Yes

FVNo

5. Is this case required to be heard and determined by a district court of three judges pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
2284?

6. Does this case question the constitutionality ofa state statute? (See, Fed.R.Civ. P. 24)

Yes

Ft/ No
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

Case 3:15-cv-01892   Document 1-3   Filed 07/04/15   Page 1 of 2
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Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

Case 3:15-cv-01892   Document 1-3   Filed 07/04/15   Page 2 of 2
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